
 

 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FULTON COUNTY 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

 

GREENLIGHT 

FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY, INC. 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

NADIA ASOYAN 

 

Defendant. 
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) 
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) 

) 

) 

 

 

 

 

 

CASE NO. ___________________ 

 

     JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION  

AND MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT 

 

Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 9-11-65, Plaintiff Greenlight Financial Technology, Inc. 

(“Greenlight”) files this Motion for Preliminary Injunction against Defendant Nadia Asoyan 

(“Defendant” or “Asoyan”) to prevent irreparable harm and preserve the status quo pending the 

litigation of this action.  

INTRODUCTION 

Greenlight seeks to enjoin Defendant from using Greenlight’s confidential and proprietary 

business and trade secret information in her new role working for a direct competitor of Greenlight.  

Defendant obtained confidential and proprietary business and trade secret information from 

Greenlight during her interviews (and near acceptance) to become Greenlight’s next CFO, all of 

which information was shared by Greenlight subject to a binding non-disclosure agreement.  Yet, 

in direct violation of that agreement and applicable law, Defendant is using and/or will inevitably 

use Greenlight’s confidential and proprietary information without permission in her new role as 

chief financial officer of a direct competitor to Greenlight, irreparably harming Greenlight.  For 

these reasons, Greenlight respectfully seeks a preliminary injunction against Defendant. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS  

 Greenlight is an innovative financial technology company located in Atlanta, Georgia, 

co-founded by Tim Sheehan, Chief Executive Officer, and Johnson Cook, President, that has built 

its business around a smart debit card and mobile application that is marketed to families for the 

purpose of allowing parents to manage their children’s spending and saving and teaching financial 

responsibility to children.  (See Exhibit A, Sheehan Affidavit, ¶ 2).  Among other things, 

Greenlight’s technology allows parents to transfer funds to a debit card for their child through the 

mobile application and allows parents to choose the exact stores where their children can spend, 

manage their children’s chores and allowances, set parent-paid interest rates on savings, and more.  

(Sheehan Aff., ¶ 2).  Using Greenlight, kids can track their balances, watch their savings grow, 

gain financial knowledge and learn to make real world financial decisions.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 2).  

Because of its unique and proprietary technology, Greenlight has experienced enormous success 

in the industry, and is the most successful product of its kind currently on the market.  (Sheehan 

Aff., ¶ 2).   

 In or around December 2019, Greenlight began searching for candidates to serve as the 

Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of Greenlight through a recruiting agency, Daversa Partners 

(“Daversa”).  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 3).  On December 10, 2019, Tim Sheehan received an email from 

Mitch Clay of Daversa proposing Asoyan as a potential candidate for the CFO position.  (Sheehan 

Aff., ¶ 4).     

 Sheehan and Asoyan had a telephone interview regarding the CFO position at Greenlight 

on or about December 13, 2019.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 5).  During the telephone interview, Sheehan 

only shared with Asoyan high-level, publicly available information about Greenlight’s business.  

(Sheehan Aff., ¶ 6).  Sheehan was impressed by Asoyan during the interview and Greenlight began 
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aggressively pursuing Asoyan for the position.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 7).  Greenlight asked Asoyan to 

travel to Atlanta for an in-person interview.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 8).  Asoyan expressed great interest 

in the position and agreed to travel to Atlanta for an interview to take place on December 18, 2019.  

(Sheehan Aff., ¶ 9).   

 On December 18, 2019, Asoyan visited Greenlight’s office and met with Greenlight’s 

entire executive team.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 10).  At the beginning of the December 18, 2019 meeting, 

and prior to discussing any non-public, confidential and/or proprietary information regarding 

Greenlight’s business, Greenlight provided Asoyan with a Non-Disclosure Agreement for review 

and execution.  Asoyan executed the Non-Disclosure Agreement before any further substantive 

discussions were held at such meeting.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 11).  

 Pursuant to the Non-Disclosure Agreement, the parties agreed, amongst other things, to 

“protect and safeguard the confidentiality of all Confidential Information with at least the same 

degree of care as the Receiving Party would protect its own Confidential Information, but in no 

event less than a commercially reasonable degree of care”.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 12).  The parties 

additionally agreed to “not use the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information, or permit it to be 

accessed or used, for any purpose other than the Purpose or any related transactions between the 

Parties, or otherwise in any manner to the Disclosing Party’s detriment” and to “not disclose any 

such Confidential Information to any person or entity”.   (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 13).    

 After Asoyan’s execution of the Non-Disclosure Agreement, Asoyan and members of 

the executive team of Greenlight met for an entire day, and as part of their discussions, Greenlight 

disclosed confidential and proprietary business information to Asoyan, including trade secret 

information pertinent to the CFO role, largely in response to direct questions from Asoyan and in 

furtherance of her expressed desire to obtain the CFO position at Greenlight.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 14).   
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All of the information disclosed to Asoyan at the December 18, 2019 meeting fell squarely within 

the definition of “Confidential Information” in the Non-Disclosure Agreement.   (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 

14).    

 For example,  Greenlight shared strategies and information regarding Greenlight’s 

customer acquisition methods and costs, (including the most effective and efficient messages, 

media, channels and audiences for customer acquisition), Greenlight’s unique and proprietary 

marketing plans and strategy, marketing efficiency broken down by channel, revenue, cost of 

revenues, lifetime value calculations, churn, detailed financials and key metrics, registration funnel 

and conversion details, product roadmap and strategy, competitive comparisons, credit facility 

terms, fundraising timelines, various contract terms, pipelines for partnerships with banks, 

financial institutions and retailers, card network incentives, custom card revenue details, and 

results of customer and consumer surveys (the “Proprietary Information”).  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 15).  

Particularly with respect to Greenlight’s unique and proprietary marketing plans, strategies, 

messages, media, and channels, Greenlight spent over five years and a great deal of financial 

resources developing and testing the most effective strategies, all of which were shared with 

Asoyan at the meeting.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 16).  During the meeting, Asoyan expressed to Sheehan 

that she wanted the CFO position, with the sole likely contingency that her husband first needed 

to secure a job in Atlanta.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 17).   

 Although Greenlight interviewed other individuals for the CFO position during this 

timeframe, and despite the fact that Greenlight acquired executed non-disclosure agreements from 

each candidate that it significantly pursued beyond initial meetings, Greenlight did not share the 

same level of confidential business information or trade secret information with the other 

candidates as it did with Asoyan in light of the parties’ high level of mutual interest.  (Sheehan 
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Aff., ¶ 18).  Moreover, although Greenlight was aware that Asoyan was interviewing with other 

companies, Greenlight was not aware that Asoyan was interviewing with any actual or potential 

competitors of Greenlight.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 19).   

 After Asoyan returned to California, Sheehan touched base with Asoyan during the 

December 2019 holiday season.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 20).  Asoyan again stated to Sheehan that she 

wanted the Greenlight CFO position and planned to turn down any other offer from any other 

company.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 20).  Sheehan and Asoyan negotiated employment terms, and 

following the completion of such negotiations, Sheehan emailed an offer letter to Asoyan, which 

was executed by Greenlight on January 15, 2020.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 21).  Sheehan also arranged 

for telephone calls between Asoyan and various high-level executives and board members at 

Greenlight to discuss Greenlight’s business and the CFO position.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 22).   

 After sending the offer letter to Asoyan, Sheehan and Asoyan had another call during 

which Asoyan told Sheehan that she wanted to come back for a second visit to Atlanta with her 

husband to meet with a real estate agent and to hold additional discussions with the Greenlight 

team.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 23).  On February 7, 2020, Asoyan and her husband visited Atlanta.  

(Sheehan Aff., ¶ 24).  Asoyan and her husband met with a real estate agent in the morning and 

Asoyan spent lunch and the afternoon with the Greenlight executive team including, but not limited 

to, Sheehan, Johnson Cook (President), Ashley Bachar (Finance Controller), and Jason Goolsby 

(Director, FP&A, Finance).  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 24).  During the February 7, 2020 meeting, 

Greenlight also shared and discussed confidential, proprietary and trade secret information with 

Asoyan, including the Proprietary Information, in response to Asoyan’s detailed and direct 

questions about the Proprietary Information and in furtherance of her expressed desire to accept 

the CFO position.   (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 25).   

Case 1:20-cv-02183-JPB   Document 2   Filed 05/22/20   Page 5 of 44



 

6 

 

 Asoyan indicated that she wanted to wait until her husband found a satisfactory position 

in Atlanta before she formally accepted the CFO position.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 26).  Daversa and 

members of the Greenlight executive team tried to help Asoyan’s husband find a position in 

Atlanta.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 27).  As time passed, however, communications with Asoyan became 

less frequent and Greenlight was forced to begin looking for other candidates to fill the CFO 

position.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 28).   

 On March 18, 2020, Asoyan emailed Sheehan, telling Sheehan that her husband had not 

been able to find a satisfactory position in Atlanta, and that they would have to stay in the Bay 

area.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 29).  Subsequently, on or about April 15, 2020, Greenlight learned via 

LinkedIn that Asoyan accepted a position as the Chief Financial Officer of a company called Step, 

an early-stage financial technology company in the parent and child sector of the fintech industry 

that directly competes with Greenlight as a provider of parent-controlled payment cards for kids 

and teens.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 30).  Step is self-proclaimed as a “next generation financial services 

company building the best banking experience to help teens and young adults achieve financial 

independence and knowledge at an earlier age”, and its main product is a credit card for teens that 

is associated with a mobile banking app.  See generally https://www.step.com/faq.    

 Asoyan gathered substantial trade secret and confidential business information regarding 

Greenlight and its processes during her interview process after execution of the Non-Disclosure 

Agreement.  Because Step is a direct competitor of Greenlight with a central focus of providing a 

product that is substantially similar to Greenlight’s product, Greenlight believes that Asoyan is 

disclosing and/or will inevitably disclose Greenlight’s confidential and proprietary business 

information and trade secret information during the course of her employment at Step.  As such, 
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Greenlight requests an order enjoining Defendant’s unlawful conduct to cease and prevent 

irreparable harm to Greenlight.  

ARGUMENT 

 This Court May Issue a Preliminary Injunction.     

Georgia courts are empowered to grant preliminary injunctions. O.C.G.A. § 9-11-65. The 

decision to grant or deny a request for injunctive relief “rest[s] in the sound discretion of the judge, 

according to the circumstances of each case.” O.C.G.A. § 9-5-8. A trial court may grant a 

preliminary injunction “to maintain the status quo until a final hearing if, by balancing the relative 

equities of the parties, it would appear that the equities favor the party seeking the injunction.” 

Outdoor Advertising Ass’n of Ga., Inc. v. Garden Club of Ga., Inc., 272 Ga. 146, 147 (2000); see 

also Kinard v. Ryman Farm Homeowners’ Ass’n, Inc., 278 Ga. 149, 149 (2004) (noting the 

“purpose for granting interlocutory injunctions is to preserve the status quo as well as balance the 

conveniences of the parties pending a final adjudication of the case.”). 

When a trial court considers an application for an interlocutory injunction pending a final 

judgment, the court should look to these four factors: 

(1) there is a substantial threat that the moving party will suffer irreparable injury 

if the injunction is not granted; (2) the threatened injury to the moving party 

outweighs the threatened harm that the injunction may do to the party being 

enjoined; (3) there is a substantial likelihood that the moving party will prevail on 

the merits of her claims at trial; and (4) granting the interlocutory injunction will 

not disserve the public interest. 

 

Green Bull Georgia Partners, LLC v. Register, 301 Ga. 472, 475, 801 S.E.2d 843, 846 (2017).   

 The parties’ relationship in this case is governed by Delaware law.  (Sheehan Aff., Ex. B, 

NDA, ¶ 11).   Under Delaware law, courts are entitled to “limit a defendant from working in a 

particular field if his doing so poses a substantial risk of the inevitable disclosure of trade secrets.”  

W.L. Gore & Assocs., Inc. v. Wu, No. CIV.A. 263-N, 2006 WL 2692584, at *17 (Del. Ch. Sept. 
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15, 2006), aff'd, 918 A.2d 1171 (Del. 2007).  As explained in W.L. Gore, if a defendant cannot 

perform all of her prospective duties for a competitor to the best of her ability without in effect 

giving the competitor the benefit of the confidential and trade secret information of the aggrieved 

party, such a scenario “makes a simple injunction against disclosure and use of this information 

inadequate.”  W.L. Gore, 2006 WL 2692584, at *17; see also Bimbo Bakeries USA, Inc. v. 

Botticella, 613 F.3d 102, 114 (3d Cir. 2010) (“the District Court had discretion to enjoin Botticella 

from working at Hostess to the extent this proposed employment threatened to lead to the 

misappropriation of these trade secrets.”).  

B. Greenlight is Likely to Succeed on the Merits of its Claims. 

Greenlight is substantially likely to succeed on the merits of its claims for trade secret 

misappropriation because there is a substantial likelihood that Asoyan is disclosing and/or will 

inevitably disclose and use Greenlight’s confidential and proprietary information and trade secrets.  

Such disclosure is in violation of Asoyan’s obligations under the Non-Disclosure Agreement and 

Delaware trade secret laws.  As a result of Asoyan’s actions, Greenlight has suffered and will 

continue to suffer immediate and irreparable harm to its business.  

1. Plaintiff is Likely to Prevail on Plaintiff’s Misappropriation of Trade Secrets 

Claim under the Delaware Uniform Trade Secrets Act 

 

The Delaware Uniform Trade Secrets Act (“DUTSA”) provides trade secret owners with 

a remedy for the threatened misappropriation of trade secrets. 6 Del. C. § 2001; § 2002.   As set 

forth below, Greenlight is likely to succeed on the merits under the DUTSA.  

a. Information disclosed to Asoyan constituted trade secrets under the 

DUTSA. 

 

The DUTSA defines trade secrets as:  

[I]nformation, including a formula, pattern, compilation, program, device, 

method, technique or process, that 
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(a) Derives independent economic value, actual or potential, from not being 

generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by, other 

persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; and 

 
(b) Is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to 

maintain its secrecy. 

6 Del. C. § 2001; see also Agilent Techs., Inc. v. Kirkland, No. CIV.A. 3512-VCS, 2010 WL 

610725, at *17–18 (Del. Ch. Feb. 18, 2010).   

Here, largely in response to Asoyan’s detailed questions during the interview process and 

the parties’ high level of mutual interest, Greenlight shared with Asoyan confidential and 

proprietary trade secret information including, but not limited to: customer acquisition methods 

and costs (including the most effective and efficient messages, media, channels and audiences for 

customer acquisition), Greenlight’s unique and proprietary marketing plans and strategy, 

marketing efficiency broken down by channel, revenue, cost of revenues, lifetime value 

calculations, churn, detailed financials and key metrics, registration funnel and conversion details, 

product roadmap and strategy, competitive comparisons, credit facility terms, fundraising 

timelines, various contract terms, pipelines for partnerships with banks, financial institutions and 

retailers, card network incentives, custom card revenue details, and results of customer and 

consumer surveys (the “Proprietary Information”) (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 15). 

First, Greenlight’s Proprietary Information – all of which is nonpublic – derives economic 

value from not being generally known or readily ascertainable by proper means.   Greenlight spent 

over five years and devoted a great deal of resources to developing its marketing, operating and 

product plans by testing and researching what ultimately worked to reach consumers and to sell its 

product.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 16).  The evidence thus demonstrates “a competitor could not have 

generated a similar system without expending a comparable amount of time and money.” Beard 
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Research, Inc. v. Kates, 8 A.3d 573, 594 (Del. Ch.), aff'd sub nom. ASDI, Inc. v. Beard Research, 

Inc., 11 A.3d 749 (Del. 2010);  see also Great Am. Opportunities, Inc. v. Cherrydale Fundraising, 

LLC, No. CIV.A. 3718-VCP, 2010 WL 338219, at *19 (Del. Ch. Jan. 29, 2010) (“In large measure, 

a trade secret ‘derives actual or potential independent economic value if a competitor cannot 

produce a comparable product without a similar expenditure of time and money.’”) (internal 

citation omitted).  Greenlight’s unique and proprietary marketing channels and tactics, as well as 

its revenue, cost of revenues, detailed financials and key metrics, and contract terms and 

negotiations, are all core tenets of Greenlight’s business which are extremely confidential and 

closely guarded by Greenlight.  Should Greenlight’s competitors acquire this information, they 

would have unfair bargaining power and anti-competitive insight into Greenlight’s business and 

would be able to essentially recreate Greenlight’s business without expending the immense time 

and effort that Greenlight invested.   (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 33).   

Second, Greenlight takes reasonable measures to keep the Greenlight Proprietary 

Information secret by storing such information on a secure, password-protected computer network, 

and by making them available only to key employees such as executives and employees with a 

direct need-to-know regarding such information. (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 31).  Moreover, Greenlight 

requires individuals who become privy to Greenlight’s Proprietary Information to first sign a non-

disclosure agreement prior to disclosure of non-public information, and additionally requires 

employees to execute non-disclosure agreements, confidentiality agreements, and, for certain 

senior executives, restrictive covenant agreements.  (Sheehan Aff., ¶ 32).  Accordingly, the 

Greenlight Proprietary Information qualifies as trade secrets under the DUTSA. 
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b. There is a substantial likelihood that Defendant will inevitably disclose 

and use Greenlight’s Proprietary Information. 

The DUTSA defines “misappropriation” as “acquisition of a trade secret of another by a 

person who knows or has reason to know that the trade secret was acquired by improper means,” 

or “disclosure or use of a trade secret of another without express or implied consent by a person 

who . . . ” 

(1) used improper means to acquire knowledge of the trade secret; or 

(2) at the time of disclosure or use, knew or had reason to know that his or her 

knowledge of the trade secret was-- 

(A) derived from or through a person who had utilized improper 

means to acquire the trade secret; 

(B) acquired under circumstances giving rise to a duty to maintain 

its secrecy or limit its use; or 

(C) derived from or through a person who owed a duty to the 

person seeking relief to maintain its secrecy or limit its use. 

6 Del. C. § 2001.   

Under 6 Del. C. § 2002, “actual or threatened misappropriation may be enjoined.”  6 Del. 

C. § 2002 (emphasis added).  Thus, an aggrieved party can acquire the benefit of injunctive relief 

by demonstrating that there is a substantial likelihood of inevitable disclosure of the trade secret.  

See, e.g., Bimbo Bakeries USA, Inc. v. Botticella, 613 F.3d 102, 114 (3d Cir. 2010) (“[t]he proper 

inquiry” in determining whether to grant an injunction to prevent the threatened disclosure 

of trade secrets is “whether there is sufficient likelihood, or substantial threat” of 

a defendant disclosing trade secrets.”).  

Thus, for example, in W.L. Gore & Assocs., Inc. v. Wu, No. CIV.A. 263-N, 2006 WL 

2692584 (Del. Ch. Sept. 15, 2006), aff'd, 918 A.2d 1171 (Del. 2007), the court enjoined the 

defendant from working with a competitor, reasoning that the defendant “could not unlearn” what 
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he learned while working for his former employer, and that “his extensive knowledge would 

almost certainly filter into his work and result in disclosure of [] trade secrets.”  W.L. Gore, 2006 

WL 2692584 at *14; see also Doebler's Pennsylvania Hybrids, Inc. v. Doebler Seeds, LLC, 88 F. 

App'x 520, 522 (3d Cir. 2004) (affirming issuance of preliminary injunction based on the fact that 

a company employed former employees in “in positions that will result in inevitable disclosures 

of trade secrets”).  

Here, Asoyan acquired the Greenlight Proprietary Information under a duty to maintain its 

secrecy, after execution of the Non-Disclosure Agreement.  (Sheehan Aff. ¶ 11).  Furthermore, 

there is a substantial likelihood that Asoyan will disclose Greenlight’s Proprietary Information to 

Step and use Greenlight’s Proprietary Information to Step’s advantage.  As CFO at Step, and 

particularly since Step is an early-stage company, Asoyan is going to have responsibility for 

planning, implementation, managing and running of all the finance activities of a company, 

including business planning, budgeting, forecasting and negotiations. Her knowledge of 

Greenlight’s Proprietary Information, disclosed to her subject to the Non-Disclosure Agreement, 

has essentially provided her a roadmap for how to model many of Step’s business strategies 

identically after Greenlight without expending the time and money that Greenlight invested.  

Indeed, even if Asoyan is forbidden from further disclosing Greenlight’s Proprietary Information 

to Step, it will be nearly impossible for Asoyan not to use such information to Step’s benefit by, 

for example, using her knowledge about Greenlight’s marketing strategies and channels to 

identically model Step’s marketing efforts, or using her knowledge about Greenlight’s contract 

terms to negotiate similar or lower prices for Step.   

Based on the foregoing, the Greenlight Proprietary Information constitutes trade secrets 

and there is a substantial likelihood that Defendant will inevitably disclose and use Greenlight’s 
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Proprietary Information during her employment with her new employer, Step, a direct competitor 

of Greenlight.   Thus, because threatened misappropriation may be enjoined under 6 Del. C. § 

2002, and because there is a substantial likelihood that Asoyan will inevitably disclose and use 

Greenlight’s Proprietary Information during the course of her employment at Step, Greenlight 

seeks immediate injunctive relief preventing Asoyan from working for Step or any other direct 

competitor of Greenlight in the parent and child sector of the fintech industry that is a provider of 

parent-controlled payment cards for kids and teens, and preventing Asoyan from using or 

disclosing misappropriated Proprietary Information from Greenlight. 

C. Greenlight is Entitled to Injunctive Relief to Prevent Immediate and Irreparable 

Harm. 

As an initial matter, the Non-Disclosure Agreement that Asoyan executed relieves 

Greenlight of demonstrating this element.  Specifically, under Paragraph 12 of the Non-Disclosure 

Agreement, the parties expressly acknowledged that breach “of the Agreement may cause 

irreparable damage to the other Party and that money damages might not be a sufficient remedy 

for any breach or threatened breach of this Agreement.”  (Sheehan Aff., Ex. B, NDA, ¶ 12).  Thus, 

under the terms of the Non-Disclosure Agreement, the parties acknowledged that “each Party shall 

be entitled to seek specific performance and injunctive and other equitable relief as a remedy for 

any breach or threatened breach of this Agreement, as well as such further relief as may be granted 

by a court of competent jurisdiction, and the Parties hereby waive any requirement for the securing 

or posting of any bond or the showing of actual monetary damages in connection with such claim.”  

(Sheehan Aff., Ex. B, NDA, ¶ 12); AM Gen. Holdings LLC v. Renco Grp., Inc., No. CIV.A. 7639-

VCN, 2012 WL 6681994, at *4 (Del. Ch. Dec. 21, 2012) (noting that Delaware courts have held 

“that contractual stipulations as to irreparable harm alone suffice to establish that element for the 
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purpose of issuing preliminary injunctive relief.”); see also UtiliSave, LLC v. Miele, No. CV 

10729-VCP, 2015 WL 5458960, at *11 (Del. Ch. Sept. 17, 2015) (same). 

Regardless, Greenlight can easily demonstrate that without immediate injunctive relief, 

Greenlight will sustain irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at law.  

Greenlight’s technology is a one-of-a-kind product in the financial technology industry and 

Greenlight has spent countless hours developing its product and business model.  (Sheehan Aff. ¶ 

15-16).   Asoyan has gathered sufficient Proprietary Information from Greenlight to essentially re-

create Greenlight’s business model at Step, a direct competitor of Greenlight in the parent and 

child sector of the fintech industry, without any of the expenditure, time or effort that Greenlight 

expended, which is irreparably harmful to Greenlight.  (Sheehan Aff. ¶ 33).  This immediate and 

irreparable harm justifies injunctive relief in favor of Greenlight.   

D. The Balance of Equities Demonstrates that the Threatened Injury to Greenlight 

Vastly Outweighs the Potential Harm to Defendant. 

The threat of continuing irreparable injury to Greenlight clearly outweighs any speculative 

harm that injunctive relief might cause Asoyan. Specifically, Asoyan cannot show that undue 

hardship will result if she is restrained from working for Step and from using non-public 

information that was misappropriated from Greenlight, which will irreparably harm Greenlight’s 

business when disclosed to Asoyan’s new employer, a direct competitor of Greenlight.   

Asoyan’s background is in accounting and finance.   Her skills are transferable to serving 

as a CFO or similar position in any industry, or even within the financial technology industry with 

an employer that is not a provider of parent-controlled payment cards for kids and teens.  

Moreover, Asoyan will suffer little harm from an injunction that prevents her from using or 

disclosing the misappropriated Proprietary Information from Greenlight, or from working in the 

parent and child sector of the fintech industry with a provider of parent-controlled payment cards 
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for kids and teens.  Greenlight only seeks to prevent Asoyan from working in a very narrow section 

of the industry, and her skills are transferable to numerous other companies that do not directly 

compete with Greenlight.  Accordingly, this factor weighs heavily in favor of granting temporary 

injunctive relief.   

E. Granting Injunctive Relief Would Serve the Public Interest. 

Finally, it is in the public interest to restrain anti-competitive behavior made possible by 

breach of contractual obligations and theft of trade secret information. There is a recognized 

general public interest in “upholding the inviolability of trade secrets and enforceability of 

confidentiality agreements.” Bimbo Bakeries USA, Inc., 613 F.3d 102 at 119 (3d Cir. 2010).  A 

contrary ruling would embolden would-be misappropriators seeking competitive advantage over 

rival businesses.  See also Priority Payment Sys., LLC v. Signapay, LTD, 161 F. Supp. 3d 1294, 

1304 (N.D. Ga. 2016) (“There is a strong public policy for protecting trade secrets from 

misappropriation and in promoting fair competition.”). 

CONCLUSION 

Greenlight submits that the Court should grant Greenlight’s motion for preliminary 

injunction because (1) Greenlight has a substantial likelihood of success on the merits; (2) failure 

to enjoin Asoyan’s behavior during the pendency of this litigation would result in immediate and 

irreparable harm to Greenlight’s continued business operations; (3) the balance of equities favors 

injunctive relief; and (4) the public interest cuts in favor of Greenlight’s requested relief.  

Accordingly, Greenlight requests that this Court enter a preliminary injunction preventing Asoyan 

from working for Step or any other direct competitor of Greenlight in the parent and child sector 

of the fintech industry that is a provider of parent-controlled payment cards for kids and teens, and 
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from using or disclosing Greenlight’s Proprietary Information or any information derived 

therefrom, during the pendency of this litigation. 

Respectfully submitted this 23rd day of April, 2020. 

     /s/ Jeffrey L. Mapen                   

     Jeffrey L. Mapen 

Georgia Bar No. 469936 

     E-mail:  jeff.mapen@nelsonmullins.com 

     Jessica R. Watson 

     Georgia Bar No. 760076 

     E-mail: jessica.watson@nelsonmullins.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Greenlight Financial Technology, 

Inc. 

 

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP 

201 17th Street/ 17th Floor 

Atlanta, GA  30363 

(404) 322-6000 (phone) 

(404) 322-6050 (fax) 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on April 23, 2020, I served the within and foregoing Plaintiff’s Motion 

for Preliminary Injunction and Memorandum in Support by electronic mail and U.S. Mail to the 

following: 

   Nadia Asoyan  

108 Livorno Way 

Redwood City, CA 94065. 

nadia.asoyan@gmail.com 

 

Respectfully submitted this 23 day of April, 2020. 

 

     /s/ Jeffrey L. Mapen                      

     Jeffrey L. Mapen 

Georgia Bar No. 469936 

     E-mail:  jeff.mapen@nelsonmullins.com 

     Jessica R. Watson 

     Georgia Bar No. 760076 

     E-mail: jessica.watson@nelsonmullins.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Greenlight Financial Technology, 

Inc. 

 

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP 

201 17th Street/ 17th Floor 

Atlanta, GA  30363 

(404) 322-6000 (phone) 

(404) 322-6050 (fax) 
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FULTON COUNTY 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

 

GREENLIGHT 

FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGY, INC. 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

NADIA ASOYAN 

 

Defendant. 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

 

 

 

CASE NO. ___________________ 

 

     JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 

AFFIDAVIT OF TIMOTHY SHEEHAN 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA   ) 

      ) 

COUNTY OF FULTON   ) 

 

 NOW COMES, Timothy Sheehan, who after being duly sworn deposes and says as 

follows: 

1. 

My name is Timothy Sheehan. I give this affidavit in support of Plaintiff's Motion for 

Preliminary Injunction and for all other purposes permitted by law. I am over 21, and I reside in 

the State of Georgia.  I am currently the Chief Executive Officer at Greenlight Financial 

Technology, Inc.  I testify to the information set forth herein based upon my personal knowledge 

and upon the attached copies of records of regularly conducted activity. 

2. 

Greenlight is a financial technology company located in Atlanta, Georgia that has built its 

business around a smart debit card and mobile application that is marketed to families for the 

purpose of allowing parents to manage their children’s spending and saving and teaching financial 
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responsibility to children. Among other things, Greenlight’s technology allows parents to transfer 

funds to a debit card for their child through the mobile application and allows parents to choose 

the exact stores where their children can spend, manage their children’s chores and allowances, 

set parent-paid interest rates on savings, and more.  Using Greenlight, kids can track their balances, 

watch their savings grow, gain financial knowledge, and learn to make real world financial 

decisions.  Because of its unique and proprietary technology, Greenlight has experienced 

enormous success in the industry, and is the most successful product of its kind currently on the 

market.   

3. 

In or around December 2019, Greenlight began searching for candidates to serve as the 

Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of Greenlight through a recruiting agency, Daversa Partners 

(“Daversa”).     

4. 

On December 10, 2019, I received an email from Mitch Clay of Daversa proposing Nadia 

Asoyan as a potential candidate for the CFO position.  See Exhibit A, Dec. 10, 2019 Email.      

5. 

I had a telephone interview with Asoyan regarding the CFO position at Greenlight on or 

about December 13, 2019.   

6. 

During the telephone interview, I only shared with Asoyan high-level, publicly available 

information about Greenlight’s business.   
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7. 

 I was impressed by Asoyan during the interview and we began aggressively pursuing 

Asoyan for the CFO position at Greenlight.  

8. 

 I asked Asoyan to travel to Atlanta for an in-person interview with Greenlight’s executive 

team.   

9. 

 Asoyan expressed great interest in the CFO position at Greenlight and agreed to travel to 

Atlanta for an interview to take place on December 18, 2019.   

10. 

 On December 18, 2019, Asoyan visited Greenlight’s office and met with Greenlight’s 

entire executive team.   

11. 

At the beginning of the December 18, 2019 meeting, and prior to discussing any non-

public, confidential and/or proprietary information regarding Greenlight’s business, Greenlight 

provided Asoyan with a Non-Disclosure Agreement for review and execution.  See Exhibit B, 

Non-Disclosure Agreement.  Asoyan executed the Non-Disclosure Agreement before any further 

substantive discussions were held at such meeting.   

12. 

Pursuant to the Non-Disclosure Agreement, the parties agreed, amongst other things, to 

“protect and safeguard the confidentiality of all Confidential Information with at least the same 

degree of care as the Receiving Party would protect its own Confidential Information, but in no 
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event less than a commercially reasonable degree of care”.  See Exhibit B, Non-Disclosure 

Agreement, ¶ 2(a). 

13. 

The parties additionally agreed to “not use the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information, 

or permit it to be accessed or used, for any purpose other than the Purpose or any related 

transactions between the Parties, or otherwise in any manner to the Disclosing Party’s detriment” 

and to “not disclose any such Confidential Information to any person or entity”. See Exhibit B, 

Non-Disclosure Agreement, ¶ 2(b)-(c). 

14. 

After Asoyan’s execution of the Non-Disclosure Agreement, Asoyan and members of the 

executive team of Greenlight met for an entire day, and as part of their discussions, Greenlight 

disclosed confidential and proprietary business information to Asoyan, including trade secret 

information pertinent to the CFO role, largely in response to direct questions from Asoyan and in 

furtherance of her expressed desire to obtain the CFO position at Greenlight.  All of the information 

disclosed to Asoyan at the December 18, 2019 meeting fell squarely within the definition of 

“Confidential Information” in the Non-Disclosure Agreement. 

15. 

For example, Greenlight shared strategies and information regarding customer acquisition 

methods and costs (including the most effective and efficient messages, media, channels and 

audiences for customer acquisition), Greenlight’s unique and proprietary marketing plans and 

strategy, marketing efficiency broken down by channel, revenue, cost of revenues, lifetime value 

calculations, churn, detailed financials and key metrics, registration funnel and conversion details, 

product roadmap and strategy, competitive comparisons, credit facility terms, fundraising 
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timelines, various contract terms, pipelines for partnerships with banks, financial institutions and 

retailers, card network incentives, custom card revenue details, and results of customer and 

consumer surveys (the “Proprietary Information”). 

16. 

Particularly with respect to Greenlight’s unique and proprietary marketing plans, strategies, 

messages, media, and channels, Greenlight spent over five years and a great deal of financial 

resources developing and testing the most effective strategies, all of which were shared with 

Asoyan at the meeting.   

17. 

During the meeting, Asoyan expressed to me that she wanted the CFO position, with the 

sole likely contingency that her husband first needed to secure a job in Atlanta. 

18. 

Although Greenlight interviewed other individuals for the CFO position during this 

timeframe, and despite the fact that Greenlight acquired executed non-disclosure agreements from 

each candidate that it significantly pursued beyond initial meetings, Greenlight did not share the 

same level of confidential business information or trade secret information with the other 

candidates as it did with Asoyan in light of the parties’ high level of mutual interest.  

19. 

Moreover, although Greenlight was aware that Asoyan was interviewing with other 

companies, Greenlight was not aware that Asoyan was interviewing with any actual or potential 

competitors of Greenlight. 
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20. 

After Asoyan returned to California, I touched base with Asoyan during the December 

2019 holiday season.  During our conversation, Asoyan again stated to me that she wanted the 

Greenlight CFO position and planned to turn down any other offer from any other company.   

21. 

I negotiated employment terms with Asoyan, and following the completion of such 

negotiations, I emailed an offer letter to Asoyan on January 15, 2020, which was already executed 

by Greenlight.  See Exhibit C, January 15, 2020 Email.   

22. 

I also arranged for phone calls between Asoyan and various high-level executives and 

board members at Greenlight to discuss Greenlight’s business and the CFO position, including 

with Chris Olsen (Drive Capital founding partner and member of Greenlight’s Board of Directors) 

and Rachel Hamilton (Chief Marketing Officer). 

23. 

After sending the offer letter to Asoyan, I had another call with Asoyan during which 

Asoyan told me that she wanted to come back for a second visit to Atlanta with her husband to 

meet with a real estate agent and to hold additional discussions with the Greenlight team.   

24. 

On February 7, 2020, Asoyan and her husband visited Atlanta. Asoyan and her husband 

met with a real estate agent in the morning and Asoyan spent lunch and the afternoon with 

members of Greenlight executive team, including, but not limited to, myself, Johnson Cook 

(President), Ashley Bachar (Finance Controller), and Jason Goolsby (Director, FP&A, Finance).  
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25. 

 During the February 7, 2020 meeting, Greenlight also shared and discussed confidential, 

proprietary and trade secret information with Asoyan, including the Proprietary Information, in 

response to Asoyan’s detailed and direct questions about the Proprietary Information and in 

furtherance of her expressed desire to accept the CFO position.  

26. 

Asoyan indicated that she wanted to wait until her husband found a satisfactory position in 

Atlanta before she formally accepted the CFO position.   

27. 

Daversa and members of the Greenlight executive team tried to help Asoyan’s husband 

find a position in Atlanta.   

28. 

As time passed, however, communications with Asoyan became less frequent and 

Greenlight was forced to begin looking for other candidates to fill the CFO position.  

29. 

On March 18, 2020, Asoyan emailed me to tell me that her husband had not been able to 

find a satisfactory position in Atlanta, and that they would have to stay in the Bay area.  See Exhibit 

D, March 18, 2020 Email.   

30. 

Subsequently, on or about April 15, 2020, Greenlight learned via LinkedIn that Asoyan 

accepted a position as the Chief Financial Officer of a company called Step, an early-stage 

financial technology company in the parent and child sector of the fintech industry that directly 

competes with Greenlight as a provider of parent-controlled payment cards for kids and teens. 
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From: Tim Sheehan <tim@greenlight.me> 
Subject: Re: Introduction N.Asoyan | T.Sheehan
Date: December 10, 2019 at 10:21:20 PM EST 
To: "nadia.asoyan@gmail.com" <nadia.asoyan@gmail.com> 
Cc: Amanda Fischer <amanda@greenlight.me> 

Hi Nadia, it’s great to meet you! I’m looking forward to chatting and getting to know each other. 
Amanda, could you please schedule some time for Nadia and me to chat this week (the sooner the 
better)? 
[moved everyone else to bcc to save their inboxes] 

On Dec 10, 2019, at 4:26 PM, Mitch Clay <Mitch.Clay@daversapartners.com> wrote: 

Tim, 

Please meet Nadia Asoyan, Head of Finance and Strategy at Robinhood. Nadia 
was the first finance hire at Robinhood and came into the business after they 
raised their series B. Nadia has since built her team to over 20 people and helped 
raise over $800M in funding. Nadia is passionate about fintech 
that empowers kids and looks forward to learning more about Greenlight.  

Nadia, 
Please meet Timothy Sheehan, founder of Greenlight. Tim will be able to walk 
you through the tremendous vision and business aspirations for the company. 

I have cc'd Amanda who can help find time for the two of you to meet. 

Best, 
Mitch 

Mitch Clay
Phone: 616-350-2391
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From: Tim Sheehan <tim@greenlight.me> 
Subject: Offer letter
Date: January 15, 2020 at 12:31:25 PM EST 
To: Nadia Asoyan <nadia.asoyan@gmail.com> 

Hi Nadia, it was great to talk to you today! I’m happy your little one is doing better!! :)  As promised, 
attached is the offer letter. I’m looking forward to working with you! Please give me a call to discuss 
anything that comes up. We’d love to have you and your family visit Atlanta anytime that is convenient for 
you! 

Talk to you soon, 

Tim 
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From: Nadia Asoyan <nadia.asoyan@gmail.com> 
Subject: Follow up
Date: March 18, 2020 at 2:43:53 PM EDT 
To: tim@greenlight.me

Hi, Tim, 

Just wanted to give you an update from my side. I really appreciate you putting time and effort on 
educating me about the company and its culture. I truly enjoyed meeting everyone at Greenlight and you 
have such an incredible team. I am also very passionate about what you do and believe it would be really 
successful company. However, as my husband is not able to leave his current job as he getting some 
opportunity locally, I will have to stay in bay area which is ultimately what is the best option for the family. I 
know it is tough and unprecedented time now and I hope we still keep great connection and once again it 
was a really pleasure to be considered for this opportunity and meet so many wonderful people. 
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C A L I F O R N I A  |  C O L O R A D O  |  D I S T R I C T  O F  C O L U M B I A  |  F L O R I D A  |  G E O R G I A  |  M A R Y L A N D  |  M A S S A C H U S E T T S  |  N E W  Y O R K  

N O R T H  C A R O L I N A  |  S O U T H  C A R O L I N A  |  T E N N E S S E E  |  W E S T  V I R G I N I A  

 

   

N E L S O N  M U L L I N S  R I L E Y  &  S C A R B O R O U G H  L L P  

A T T O R N E Y S  A N D  C O U N S E L O R S  A T  L A W  

 

J e f f r e y  M a p e n  

T  4 0 4 . 3 2 2 . 6 1 5 7  

jeff.mapen@nelsonmullins.com 

 

A t l a n t i c  S t a t i o n  

2 0 1  1 7 t h  S t r e e t ,  N W  |  S u i t e  1 7 0 0  

A t l a n t a ,  G A  3 0 3 6 3  

T  4 0 4 . 3 2 2 . 6 0 0 0   F  4 0 4 . 3 2 2 . 6 0 5 0  

nelsonmullins.com 

 

April 23, 2020 

Via FedEx and E-Mail 

Ms. Nadia Asoyan 

108 Livorno Way 

Redwood City, CA 94065 

Email: nadia.asoyan@gmail.com 

 

 Re:  Greenlight Financial Technology, Inc. v. Nadia Asoyan,  

Fulton County Superior Court, State of Georgia  

 

Dear Ms. Asoyan:  

 

 This Firm is counsel to Greenlight Financial Technology, Inc. (“Greenlight”) with respect 

to the lawsuit that has been filed against you in Fulton County Superior Court, State of Georgia.  

To the extent you retain legal counsel, please forward this to them and address all correspondence 

regarding this matter to the undersigned.   

 

 Pursuant to Paragraph 11 of the Non-Disclosure Agreement executed by you on December 

18, 2019, please consider this correspondence and enclosures to constitute service of process for 

the legal action that has been filed against you in Fulton County Superior Court in the State of 

Georgia.  The summons and complaint are attached hereto as Exhibit A.   

 

As set forth in the complaint, it has recently come to Greenlight’s attention that you 

accepted a position with Step Mobile, Inc. (“Step”) as Chief Financial Officer.  As you know, after 

execution of the Non-Disclosure Agreement in December 2019, you became privy to certain of 

Greenlight’s confidential and proprietary business and trade secret information during your 

interviews and near acceptance of the Chief Financial Officer position at Greenlight.   

 

In direct violation of the Non-Disclosure Agreement and applicable law, Greenlight 

believes that you either already have used and disclosed and/or will inevitably use and disclose 

Greenlight’s confidential and proprietary information without permission in your new role as Chief 

Financial Officer of Step, which is causing irreparable harm to Greenlight.  As such, in addition to 

the complaint, Greenlight has also filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction against you, which 

requests an injunction from the Court that will prohibit you from working for Step or any other 

direct competitor of Greenlight in the parent and child sector of the fintech industry that is a 

provider of parent-controlled payment cards for kids and teens, and from using or disclosing 

Case 1:20-cv-02183-JPB   Document 2   Filed 05/22/20   Page 43 of 44



April 23, 2020 

Page 2 

 

 

Greenlight’s proprietary and confidential business and trade secret information, or any information 

derived therefrom.  A copy of Greenlight’s Motion is attached hereto as Exhibit B.   

 

Based on your knowledge of Greenlight’s confidential business and trade secret 

information, the irreparable harm to Greenlight is incalculably immense and growing by the day.  

Greenlight would have sought an immediate temporary restraining order if it were not for the 

current COVID-19 pandemic; however, in light of the pandemic and the limited emergency Court 

resources, Greenlight is seeking a preliminary injunction and will endeavor to acquire a hearing 

date with the assigned Judge at the earliest available date.   

 

In the interim, we urge you to immediately cease and desist from using or disclosing 

Greenlight’s confidential and proprietary information.  Please govern yourself accordingly.  

Greenlight reserves all rights. 

 

 

      Sincerely,  

 

 
 

      Jeffrey Mapen 

 

 

cc:   Mr. Tim Sheehan (via email to tim@greenlight.me) 

       Mr. Johnson Cook (via email to johnson@greenlight.me) 
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